NO. 46689-9

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

MORPHO DETECTION, INC.,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

Joshua Weissman, WSBA No. 42648  
Michael Hall, WSBA No. 19871  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Revenue Division, OID No. 91027  
7141 Cleanwater Lane SW  
PO Box 40123  
Olympia, Washington 98504  
(360) 753-5528

**

## I. INTRODUCTION

States cannot tax the federal government directly. But they can and do tax contractors that work for the federal government. *Washington v. U.S.*, 460 U.S. 536, 546, 103 S. Ct. 1344, 75 L. Ed. 2d 264 (1983). One such tax is Washington's use tax on contractors that construct, repair, decorate, or improve buildings for the United States.

As part of a federal overhaul of airport security operations after 9/11, the United States paid Morpho Detection over \$48 million to manufacture and install explosive detection systems at two Washington airports. Therefore, the Department of Revenue imposed use tax on Morpho as the contractor that improved the airports for the United States. This outcome was required by Washington's statutory scheme, which imposes use tax on contractors in situations where Washington cannot tax the United States directly.

In a ruling that is flatly inconsistent with both the language of RCW 82.04.190(6) and the purpose of that statute to tax contractors doing business with the United States, the trial court granted Morpho's request for a tax refund of more than \$5 million. Based on an application of the plain meaning rule that our Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected, the court interpreted the words "of or for" as they appear in RCW 82.04.190(6) to limit the use tax to construction work only on land in

which the United States has a property interest. As a result, the court carved out a tax exemption for the broad category into which Morpho's work fell—work paid for by the United States on land the United States does not own. Creating a single type of building improvement work that entirely escapes taxation cannot possibly be the legislative intent behind the statute. This Court should reverse the order granting summary judgment to Morpho, direct the trial court to grant partial summary judgment to the Department, and remand for resolution of the remaining issues.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred in granting Morpho Detection's motion for summary judgment.
2. The trial court erred in denying the Department's request for partial summary judgment.
3. The trial court erred in ruling that the United States must have a beneficial interest in the real property where buildings are improved for the use tax to apply.

## **III. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

“Consumers” of personal property owe use tax on the value of that property if they have not paid retail sales tax. RCW 82.12.020. The definition of “consumer” includes persons “engaged in the business . . . of improving . . . buildings . . . upon, or above real property of or for the United States . . . .” RCW 82.04.190(6). Morpho Detection installed



explosive detection systems under contract with the United States and was paid for that work by the United States. Did the trial court err when it ruled that Morpho improved buildings neither “of” nor “for” the United States under RCW 82.04.190(6) and thus did not owe use tax on the value of the personal property it installed? (Assignment of Errors 1-3)

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **A. Overview**

In the wake of September 11, 2001, Morpho Detection<sup>1</sup> won two national contracts to manufacture and install explosive detection systems at airports for the Transportation Security Administration (TSA). CP 176-367. TSA determined that the 46 systems at issue in this case would be installed at Washington airports, specifically the Seattle-Tacoma and Spokane International Airports. *See* CP 36-54. At these airports Morpho performed various tasks assigned by TSA, including assembly and assuring the systems functioned properly. *E.g.*, CP 450-70 (various invoices); CP 511; 544-45. Sea-Tac received 41 units, with the five remaining units installed in Spokane. CP 36-54.

For its manufacture and installation of the Washington systems, Morpho received over \$48 million from the federal government. Because

---

<sup>1</sup> During periods relevant to this case Morpho went through various name changes, including names associated with General Electric. The company is now called Morpho Detection, LLC, owned by the French corporation Safran. For ease of reference, the brief will refer to the Respondent’s various iterations as “Morpho.”

Morpho had installed the systems in Washington and its work was for the United States, the Department assessed Morpho use tax totaling \$4,191,799, in addition to other tax, interest, and penalties. CP 562.

**B. Morpho's Bid And Contracts**

After 9/11, Congress determined that it was necessary to overhaul security operations at our nation's airports in order to protect the citizenry. Part of the reform was the Aviation Transportation Security Act, which placed responsibility for airport security within the newly-created Transportation Security Administration. *See* 49 U.S.C. § 114.

One of TSA's duties was to acquire explosive detection systems and assure their installation at airports. Explosive detection systems use computer tomography to scan objects such as luggage and compare their density to known explosives. CP 40. Federal law required explosive detection systems be deployed as soon as possible, but no later than December 31, 2002. 49 U.S.C. § 44901(b).

TSA<sup>2</sup> issued a solicitation on November 23, 2001, for contractors capable of both manufacturing and installing explosive detection systems. The solicitation indicated the breadth of work to be performed by the contractor in addition to the actual manufacturing requirements. For example, the solicitation stated that "Contractor shall provide program

---

<sup>2</sup> The Federal Aviation Administration originally issued the solicitation, but shortly thereafter TSA took over the bidding process.

management, systems engineering, integrated logistics support, quality assurance, configuration management, training, materials and support to test, deliver, install and maintain [stand-alone] EDS [explosive detection systems] and supporting equipment/deliverables in accordance with this [Statement of Work].” CP 146.

Morpho, a relatively small company at the time, was in a prime position to expand its position in the market. *See* CP 509. Morpho was one of only two companies with an explosive detection product already certified by the federal government. *Id.* Morpho’s systems contained several parts, generally including a computer tomography unit that scanned for explosives, an entrance conveyor, an exit slide, and a console. CP 40.

Morpho responded to the government’s solicitation, touting not only its ability to manufacture explosive detection systems, but also the installation and other work it would perform at the destination airports:

We have addressed needs beyond the device itself. Today, [Morpho] not only manufactures CTX scanners, but also offers site planning, integration services, installation services, maintenance services and a range of training courses for operators, instructors and maintenance personnel.

CP 158.<sup>3</sup>

Morpho was quickly awarded a “letter contract” to manufacture and set up explosive detection systems across the United States. CP 162-75. This began a flurry of manufacturing and site installation activity as Morpho sought to keep up with the exponentially increasing demand for its explosive detection systems leading up to the December 31, 2002, deadline. At the same time, Morpho continued to negotiate specific contract terms with the federal government. Eventually the parties entered into two complete contracts for the manufacture and “site installation support” of systems at airports across the country. CP 177-367 (site installation support provisions at CP 206, 299-300). The parties agreed to a price-per-system that included assembly at an airport of TSA’s choosing. *See* CP 537-38 (assembly work included in contract price for machine). In addition, the government had the ability to order additional services and often did so. CP 450-70 (invoices to TSA for additional airport work).

### **C. The Explosive Detection Systems And Their Installation**

The detection systems at issue in this case are used to screen checked baggage for explosives. The various installation processes Morpho used are detailed in “installation checklists” that Morpho

---

<sup>3</sup> “CTX” is one of Morpho’s trademarked product lines. *See* <http://www.morpho.com/detection/see-all-products/ctx-explosives-detection/> (last visited January 25, 2015).

technicians completed. CP 473-505. The basic steps to deploying an explosive detection system are as follows:

- a. *Manufacture.* Morpho manufactured the systems at its California facility. CP 33.
- b. *Factory Acceptance Test.* Once a machine was manufactured, it was tested at Morpho's California factory. TSA could witness the test. *See* CP 519-20.
- c. *Transportation.* After the factory acceptance tests, TSA-contracted trucks picked up the machines (at which point title to the machines passed to TSA) and moved them to other locations. The systems at issue in this case were taken to Texas before transport to Washington. *Id.*
- d. *Airport Infrastructure Work.* Various contractors performed structural work at the airports to accommodate the explosive detection systems, some of which are the size of minivans. *E.g.*, CP 43.
- e. *Transport to Washington.* For those systems that TSA determined would come to Seattle or Spokane, TSA arranged transportation to the Washington airport. CP 17, 33.
- f. *Rigging and Seismic Anchoring.* When an explosive detection system arrived at an airport, "riggers" met the truck carrying the system. CP 518. The systems could be in more than one piece. CP 525-

26. The riggers unloaded and uncrated the systems, then moved them using a large forklift to a marked place inside the airport. CP 510-11, 522. In some cases, riggers “seismically anchored” systems to the floor, bolting them down with custom brackets. CP 45.

Around mid-2003, Morpho assumed responsibility for rigging and subcontracted that work to other companies. CP 88, 516. Morpho’s contracts with TSA were modified to create a new billing category for “installation and rigging.” CP 369-72. Morpho employees inspected systems for shipping damage and monitored the riggers. CP 518-19, 524.

g. *Assembly.* Once the systems were in place, Morpho assembled the internal components for each system. CP 34, 44-46, 206, 511. Because of delays such as requiring a replacement part or an infrastructure delay, the time between the beginning and end of assembling a system could be as much as a year. CP 544-45.

h. *Site Acceptance Test.* Once a system was assembled and installed, Morpho assisted Battelle in conducting a site acceptance test. This test assessed whether a system could adequately identify threats after assembly by scanning test bags. CP 530-31, 543.

i. *Baggage Handling Systems and Integration.* Some of the systems were “integrated” into baggage handling systems so that luggage moved directly through the explosive detection system on the baggage

handling conveyor belt. Proper integration ensured that the two systems could “communicate” with each other and that baggage would move smoothly through the CT scanner. Morpho handled the explosive detection system side of integration, and the baggage handling system contractor handled its side. *See* CP 548-57.

j. *Integrated Site Acceptance Test.* The integrated site acceptance test determined whether the completed system functioned correctly. Morpho assisted another contractor in performing these tests. CP 529-30.

k. *Multiplexing.* Morpho also designed and implemented a multiplex network, which allows TSA employees to monitor bag images from computer viewing stations in a “remote” room, separate from the explosive detection systems themselves. *See* CP 514-15, 527-28; 553.

#### **D. Procedural Facts**

The subject of Morpho’s liability for use tax in Washington has been addressed in both state and federal venues.

##### **1. The Department’s audit**

The Department audited Morpho’s activities at the Sea-Tac and Spokane airports for the period January 1, 2002, through March 31, 2006. CP 39. The Department performed a meticulous audit, reviewing thousands of records Morpho provided to the auditor. The audit resulted

in a 16-page report entitled “Auditor’s Detail of Differences and Instructions to the Taxpayer.” CP 39-54.

Morpho received more than \$48 million from the United States for manufacturing and installing these 46 systems. CP 36. Based on the information Morpho made available during the audit, the Department assessed Morpho a total of \$5,423,645, including \$4,191,799 in use tax, \$237,293 in business and occupation tax,<sup>4</sup> a 5% assessment penalty of \$221,455, and \$773,098 in interest. CP 562. The Department imposed use tax because Morpho installed 41 explosive detection systems at Sea-Tac airport and five explosive detection systems at the Spokane airport, all for the United States. The Department calculated use tax based on the value of the personal property that Morpho installed. *See* CP 563.

## **2. Morpho’s administrative appeal**

Morpho appealed the assessment to the Department’s Appeals Division. *See* WAC 458-20-100 (explaining Department’s internal appeals process). In some of these appeals, members of the Department’s executive leadership are involved in determining the outcome of an internal appeal, as was the case here. *See* WAC 458-20-100(6)(b).

Morpho submitted extensive evidence and legal argument to the Appeals Division. After considering that material, the Department issued

---

<sup>4</sup> Morpho does not dispute the business and occupation tax portion of the assessment. *See* CP 12.



its “Final Executive Level Determination,” affirming that Morpho owed use tax for installing the explosive detection systems at Washington airports. CP 559-70. Most of the Determination is devoted to the issue of whether Morpho in fact “installed” the systems.<sup>5</sup> However, the Determination does address the issue of whether the property improved must be “of” the United States, or whether such improvement can be “for” the United States while located on non-federal land. The Department reasoned:

The Department concludes that RCW 82.04.190(6) does not mandate that the real property at issue be of the United States. Rather, for purposes of RCW 82.04.190(6), business conducted can be for the United States on real property not of the United States, and those conducting such business can still be a “consumer.” Since taxpayer assembled EDS machines in Washington on behalf of TSA, an instrumentality of the United States, on real property owned by the Port of Seattle, the Department concludes that Taxpayer’s argument on this point is erroneous.

CP 564 (footnote 6).

### **3. Morpho’s federal court litigation**

While it was fighting its use tax assessment in Washington, Morpho also challenged its responsibility for the assessment through the

---

<sup>5</sup> This is likely the primary issue that will be litigated if the case is remanded. Despite contracts, statements of work, invoices, and testimony by Morpho employees stating that it installed the systems, Morpho makes the surprising contention that its work was not “installation” and therefore, that it is not a “consumer” under RCW 82.04.190(6). CP 13. However, for purposes of summary judgment, Morpho has conceded that it installed the systems and the issue is therefore not presently in dispute. CP 24 (footnote 6).

federal courts. Specifically, Morpho requested that TSA adjust its contract price to include the assessment, thereby effectively reimbursing Morpho for the use tax it would pay to Washington. Morpho argued that at the time it entered its contract, it did not know at which airports it would be installing its systems, and therefore it could not have known that it would owe use tax in Washington. *See* CP 592-93. It also argued that it could not have known that Washington would impose any tax at all in this situation. TSA refused to adjust the contract price. Morpho then litigated the issue in the Federal Aviation Administration's Office of Dispute Resolution for Acquisition (ODRA), which issued detailed findings and conclusions. CP 573-602.

One of Morpho's arguments to ODRA was that Washington's use tax was an "after-imposed tax"<sup>6</sup> under standard language that applies to federal contracts. Specifically, Morpho argued that the Department's use tax assessment was an after-imposed tax because the real property where the systems were installed is not owned by the federal government, similar to its argument here. CP 592-93.

ODRA disagreed with Morpho and instead agreed with the Department's interpretation of RCW 82.04.190(6). Citing the Department's Determination explaining that work can be "for" the United

---

<sup>6</sup> An "after-imposed tax" is a new or increased tax excluded on the contract date but whose exclusion was later revoked. *See* CP 92.

States in addition to being on or above real property “of” the United States, ODRA concluded that “[Morpho’s] position is not supported by the canons of statutory interpretation or by demonstrating that contrary interpretations prevailed prior to the ALJ’s Determination.” CP 598. Rather, the Department “relied on the plain, simple, and singular interpretation that gives meaning to the complete language of the statutory definition of ‘consumer.’” *Id.* ODRA also explained that Morpho would read the phrase “‘or for’ . . . out of the statute entirely.” *Id.*

Morpho appealed the issue to the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. The U.S. Court of Appeals agreed with ODRA and denied the petition. *Morpho Detection, Inc. v. Transportation Sec. Admin.*, 717 F.3d 975, 976 (D.C. Cir. 2013). It held that Washington had not created an after-imposed tax because the law defining a “consumer” had not changed since 1975, and that “Morpho should have known it might reasonably be determined to be a ‘consumer’ whose business activities in Washington were subject to the use and B&O taxes.” *Id.* at 982.

#### **4. The state court litigation**

After the Department issued its Determination in Morpho’s administrative appeal, Morpho brought a tax refund claim in Thurston County Superior Court under RCW 82.32.180. The parties conducted

extensive discovery. Most of the discovery surrounded the factual issue of whether Morpho installed the explosive detection systems, as opposed to some other contractor. However that question was not the one upon which the trial court granted summary judgment.

Morpho moved for summary judgment, raising two issues related to whether or not it met the definition of a “consumer” under RCW 82.04.190(6) and was therefore subject to the use tax. In its response to Morpho’s motion, the Department asked that partial summary judgment be granted in its favor on the two issues Morpho raised. *See* CP 60, 81. The first of these was Morpho’s argument that, even assuming it installed the explosive detection systems at Washington airports, Morpho was not “engaged in the business” of improving buildings, and therefore was not a consumer. CP 23-25. The trial court found that there was an issue of fact on this issue. CP 646; RP 29.

The second issue resulted in summary judgment being granted to Morpho. Morpho argued that the definition of “consumer” in RCW 82.04.190(6) requires that the buildings being improved must be under, upon or above real property that is either owned by the United States or in which the United States has a beneficial interest such as a lease, an easement, or a license. CP 25-26; 630-32. The Department countered that no such property interest is required as long as the buildings are improved

for the United States, and that regardless, the United States had at least a license to inspect and operate security measures at the airports. CP 75-81.

The trial court agreed with Morpho that RCW 82.04.190(6) requires a property interest, and ruled that, as a matter of law, the United States had no such interest in Sea-Tac and Spokane airports. RP 30-31; CP 653. Accordingly, the trial court ruled that Morpho was not a “consumer” of the systems and, therefore, not subject to Washington’s use tax. The Department timely filed a notice of appeal to this Court. CP 648-49.

## V. ARGUMENT

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