FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 FEB 20 PM 12:58

No. 46689-9

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY

DEPUTY

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Morpho Detection, Inc.

Respondent,

v.

State of Washington, Department of Revenue

Appellant.

Brief of Respondent

Franklin G. Dinces, WSBA #13473
Geoffrey P. Knudsen, WSBA # 1324
Attorneys for Appellant
The Dinces Law Firm
5314 28th St NW
Gig Harbor, WA
(253) 649-0265

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

IV. Summary of Argument

RCW 82.04.190(6) provides:

(6) Any person engaged in the business of constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving new or existing buildings or other structures under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States, any instrumentality thereof, ... including the installing or attaching of any article of tangible personal property therein or thereto, whether or not such personal property becomes part of the realty by virtue of installation; Any such person shall be a consumer within the meaning of this subsection in respect to tangible personal property incorporated into, installed in, or attached to such building or other structure by such person;

The plain, unambiguous language of the statute requires that the specified activity (the business of constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving new or existing buildings or other structures) must occur “under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States.”

The undisputed facts are that the locations at the airports at which the EDMs are deployed are owned and exclusively controlled by the airports. The United States has no lease or other real property right to or

has, which would be a lease, a license, an easement, or something of that issue. And the defendant has presented no evidence and has not created a genuine issue of material fact on that issue.” RP 30 – 31.

Despite this express ruling, the Department’s third assignment of error reads, “the Superior Court erred in ruling that the United States must have a beneficial interest in the real property where buildings are improved for the use tax to apply.” Br. of App. at 2. This phrasing of the issue might make it appear that the Superior Court agreed with the Department’s argument that real property is for the United States just means for the benefit of the United States. Later in its Brief, the Department recognizes that the Court ruled that RCW 82.04.190(6) “applies only when the federal government owns, or has some other property interest in the real property on which the work is performed.” Br. of App. at 21.

interest in such real property and the EDMs are used at the airport for the benefit of the airport, the airlines and the flying public. Declarations of Goodwin and McDevitt. CP 28 - 31. Thus, the real property at which the EDMs are deployed is not of or for the United States, and MDI cannot be a “consumer” under RCW 82.04.190(6).

This conclusion is supported by the plain, unambiguous language of the statute, rules of statutory construction, and rules of English grammar.

Unable to refute the plain, unambiguous meaning of the statute, the Department spends many pages detailing the work MDI allegedly performed at the airports. Br. of App. at 4 - 9. To this, no response is necessary. The issue is not whether MDI performed the specified activity. The sole issue is whether the activity was performed “under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States.” It was not.

Unable to refute the plain, unambiguous meaning of the statute, the Department also mischaracterizes prior litigation, offers an interpretation of the statute that requires additional words and/or makes portions of the statute superfluous, argues that the intent of the legislature was to pass a tax other than it did, creates a straw man argument and ends with an attempt to create an interest in Washington real property as a matter of law out of federal statutory language.

After quickly providing the plain meaning of RCW 82.04.190(6) by reference to its unambiguous language, we address the rules of

statutory construction and the rules of grammar which control the interpretation of the statute. We then identify and/or correct the Department's errors regarding its several separate arguments.

V. Argument

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review of a Superior Court's order granting summary judgment is *de novo*. *Clean v. City of Spokane*, 133 Wn.2d 455, 462, 947 P.2d 1169 (1997).

B. RCW 82.04.190(6) Only Applies if the Constructing, Repairing, Decorating, or Improving Is Under, Upon or Above Real Property of or for the United States.

1. The Unambiguous, Plain Language of the Statute Requires the Specified Activity to Occur Under, Upon or Above Real Property of or for the United States

RCW 82.04.190(6) provides:

(6) Any person engaged in the business of constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving new or existing buildings or other structures under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States, any instrumentality thereof, ... Any such person shall be a consumer within the meaning of this subsection in respect to tangible personal property incorporated into, installed in, or attached to such building or other structure by such person;

The unambiguous language of the statute is that the specified activity -- the business of constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving

new or existing buildings or other structures --must occur "under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States."

The undisputed fact is that the real property on which the EDMs are located is not "real property of or for the United States." Declarations of Anderson and McDevitt.⁸ Therefore, RCW 82.04.190(6) does not apply to MDI and the Superior Court's judgment should be affirmed.

2. RCW 82.04.190(6)'s Plain Language Must Be Given Effect and Any Ambiguity Must Be Construed in Favor of the Taxpayer According to Rules of Statutory Construction.

While the statutory interpretation issue raised by this case concerning RCW 82.04.190(6) has not been previously addressed by Washington Courts, the appellate courts of this state have repeatedly stated the rules courts should follow in interpreting tax statutes.

Absent ambiguity, courts rely on the plain language of the statute. *City of Spokane v. Dep't of Revenue*, 104 Wn. App. 253, 258, 17 P. 3d 1206 (2001). Courts should not and do not construe an unambiguous statute. *Vita Food Products v. State*, 91 Wn.2d 132, 587 P.2d 535 (1978). If a tax statute is ambiguous, the statute must be construed most strongly

⁸ In the Superior Court, the Department tried to claim that the witnesses were wrong because the TSA leases other real property at the airport. The witnesses were specific. Both witnesses first declared they knew the location of the machines and then declared that "[t]he real property at which the EDMs were and are deployed by TSA is real property owned (and exclusively controlled by others then the United States). The United States has no lease or other real property right to or interest in *such* real property." Declarations of Anderson and McDevitt (emphasis added). The witnesses did not declare that the federal government has no interest in *other* real property at the airport.

against the taxing authority.⁹ *Group Health v. Department of Revenue*, 106 Wn.2d 391, 722 P.2d 787 (1986). That is, if there is doubt as to the meaning of a taxing statute, it is to be construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing body. *Vita Food Products v. State*, 91 Wn.2d 132, 587 P.2d 535 (1978).¹⁰

For example, in *Vita Foods*, our Supreme Court was interpreting a tax statute that levied a privilege tax upon the “original receiver” of fish. “Original receiver” was statutorily defined as the person first receiving, handling, dealing in or dealing with the fish within the State of Washington. *Id.*

The Department argued that the statute was intended to apply to the first person receiving the fish which is subject to the taxing jurisdiction of the State. Therefore, when an Indian Tribe was the first person physically receiving and dealing with the fish within the State but the Tribe was not taxable because while within the State it was still beyond the taxing jurisdiction of the State, the Department argued that *Vita Foods*, the second person dealing with the fish, was taxable.

⁹ As RCW 82.04.190(6) is unambiguous, the Department’s arguments concerning statutory intent and legislative history should not be considered. Moreover, if the statute was ambiguous, then the statute must be construed most strongly against the Department. *See*, authorities cited and discussed in text.

¹⁰ If doubt or ambiguity exists in regards to a tax exemption or deduction, rather than a statute defining who is taxable such as RCW 82.04.190(6), the statute would be construed strictly, though fairly, and in keeping with the ordinary meaning of the statute’s language against the taxpayer. *Group Health v. Department of Revenue*, 106 Wn.2d 391, 727 P.2d 787 (1986).

The Court rejected the Department's argument because the statute was clear on its face. The original receiver was defined as the first person actually, physically receiving the fish. The Department's argument would have the Court add words to the statute to fit what it claimed was the legislative intent (that the legislature meant the first receiving person to mean the first person over whom taxing authority may be asserted). Even if the Court believed the legislature intended something other than what it expressed, the Court lacked the power to add words to the statute. The Court buttressed its conclusion by reasoning that if there is doubt as to the meaning of a taxing statute, it is to be construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing body. *Id.*

Below, the Thurston County Superior Court held that the statute was unambiguous and applied the plain meaning of the statute. Finding no genuine issue of material fact concerning whether or not the EDMs were installed under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States, the Superior Court concluded MDI is not a consumer. RP 31.

3. Rules of Grammar and Rules of Construction Require the Specified Activity to Occur Under, Upon or Above Real Property of or for the United States.

The Department claims that it is not a requirement that the real property be of or for the United States. It claims it is enough if the specified activity is done for the United States. Br. of App. at 15, 20 – 21. The specified activity is constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving

new or existing buildings or other structures. The Department fails to understand that the specified activity has to occur under, upon, or above real property of or for the United States.

The Department's construction would have the specified activity be constructing, repairing, decorating, or improving new or existing buildings or other structures under, upon, or above real property. Thus, it claims it is sufficient if the real property is of the United States or if the specified activity is for the United States. *Id.*

Such a construction is incorrect because:

(a) The Department's construction violates normal grammar rules;

(i) There is no comma or other punctuation after real property, and there would be if the Department's construction were correct;

(ii) The antecedents for the words "of or for" need to be identical. The Department's construction changes antecedents from real property for the word "of" to the specified activity for the word "for". Such a construction does violence to the English language.

(b) The Department's construction violates the rules of construction;

(i) "[A]ll the language used (in a statute) is given effect with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *New West*

Fisheries, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 106 Wn. App. 370, 376, 22 P. 3d 1274 (2001).¹¹

The Department's construction makes the words "under, upon, or above real property" superfluous. Everything is under, upon, or above real property. To have meaning, those words need to be tied to the phrase "of or for the United States."

The Department's construction also apparently makes the word "of" in the phrase "real property of or for" superfluous. The Department expressly argues that:

the constitutional problem of taxing the federal government has nothing to do with who owns the land. Washington could constitutionally impose retail sales tax on a private buyer of construction services on federal land. (Citation omitted) There would be no constitutional reason to shift the incidence of tax in these situations to the contractor. (footnote omitted) Rather, the purpose of the use tax on federal contractors is to address the constitutional prohibition on taxing work for the United States.

Br. of App at 28 – 29.¹²

¹¹ The *New West Fisheries, Inc. v. Department of Revenue* case involved the enhanced food fish tax. The tax was subject to a credit for any tax previously paid on the same fish. New West contended that the language "any tax" permitted it a credit for an unemployment insurance tax and a worker's compensation tax. The Department countered that the tax had to be on the same fish. The Court ruled in favor of the Department because focusing on the word "any" made the language "on the same fish" superfluous. See also, *United Parcel Service, Inc. v. Department of Revenue*, 102 Wn. 2d 355, 687 P.2d 186 (1984) (Statutory deduction for vehicles used for transporting therein persons or property for hire across the boundaries of the state held to require the vehicles to cross the state boundaries and not just the persons or property because if just the persons or property had to cross state lines the language regarding vehicles would be superfluous.)

¹²The Department's omitted footnote argues that the "Legislature may have included the phrase "real property of" into the use tax scheme because of some older cases suggesting that states could not tax work on federal property" Br. of App. at 29 n. 9. The

But, the statute has the words “real property of or for”. A construction that makes the word “of” superfluous must be rejected.

(ii) Even if a Court believes the Legislature intended something other than what it expressed, the Courts lack the power to add words to the statute. *See, Vita Foods*, discussed at 11 – 12, *supra*.

The Department’s construction requires an additional word to be added to the statute. Rather, than reading “real property of or for the United States,” the Department has the statute reading “real property of the United States or *work* for the United States.” (Emphasized word “work” is added by Department construction while the word “of” and the phrase “under, upon or above real property” become superfluous). Therefore, the Department’s construction must be rejected.

The Superior Court’s reading that the real property must be of or for the United States is the only reading that gives meaning to each word of the statute. “Real property is of” the United States if the United States owns the real property. “Real property is for” the United States if the United States has an easement, lease, right to possess or other such interest

Department then tells this Court that it need not determine the meaning of improving buildings under, upon or above real property “of” the United States that do not involve payment from the federal government. The Department gives that instruction apparently because its construction leads to “of” being superfluous.

in the real property. Thus, if the federal government leased the land, it would be real property for the United States.¹³

Persuasively, the Superior Court's reading of the phrase "of or for" is also consistent with what the Department described on page 11 and again on page 22 of the Department's Opposition to Morpho's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 69 and 80. On those pages, the Department twice inadvertently demonstrated by reference to RCW 82.04.050(2)(b)¹⁴ and RCW 82.04.190(4)¹⁵ that "real property for" means, real property of a lessee, easement holder, or holder of a right of possession. There is no reason to think "real property for" means anything different in RCW 82.04.190(6).¹⁶

¹³ The paragraph in text is a complete response to the Department's argument that the Superior Court's reading "reads the words 'or for' out of RCW 82.04.190(6)'s consumer definition" and the Department's argument that neither "the trial court nor Morpho has ever offered a plausible meaning for the words 'or for' that could support the result the court reached." *See*, Br. of App. at 25. This paragraph is also a complete response to the straw man argument that "or" does not mean "and". *See*, Br. of App. at 29 - 32. The Department made the same argument below even though MDI has never argued that "or" meant "and". *Cf.* Brief of Appellant at 29 - 32 with Department's Opposition to Morpho's Motion for Summary Judgment at 18 - 20, CP 76 - 78. The Superior Court's reading gives every word of RCW 82.04.190(6) meaning without changing any words. The Department's construction based on its overstated understanding of statutory intent does not.

¹⁴ According to the Department, "real property of or for" means in the context of RCW 82.04.050(2)(b) owning, leasing having the right to possess or having an easement. *See*, CP 69 (Department's Opposition to Morpho's Motion for Summary Judgment at 11). The Superior Court adopted that meaning of the terms.

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